1986

William D. Blodgett and Florence G. Blodgett, his wife v. Zions First National Bank, Stanley L. Pace and Allan D. McComb, individually and d/b/a Alco Investment, and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The substantive issue in this case relates generally to the ultimate legal effect of a lis pendens on subsequent real property interests if the final order dismissing the case in which the lis pendens was filed does not quiet title to the property.

ISSUE: Whether Zions' judgment liens obtained after the Blodgetts' lis pendens was filed were extinguished when the final order dismissing the Blodgetts' action did not resolve the issue of title as claimed in their lis pendens.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are generally in chronological order and are divided into numbered paragraphs to make reference thereto easier:

1. The Blodgetts commenced an action against Betty Purcell and others in 1974 and filed a lis pendens which described the subject property and requested "an order terminating the interest of all of the defendants in the real property." (R. 98). Subsequently, the Blodgetts commenced a separate action against Water Park Corporation which was owned by Betty Purcell. (See paragraph 4 below for Judge Durham's decision in one of Zions' cases stating the ownership of Water Park). The Blodgetts' actions were consolidated. (See R. 100). No lis pendens was filed in the Blodgetts' action against Water Park.

2. On May 1, 1979 Judge Durham signed a default judgment in the consolidated cases in favor of the Blodgetts against Water Park to the effect that Water Park's interest in the subject property was conveyed to the Blodgetts. (R. 17-18). There was no ruling as to what Water Park's interest was, if any.

3. Shortly thereafter, on or about May 16, 1979 and June 2, 1979, Judge Durham entered two default judgments

in other cases in favor of Zions Bank against Betty Purcell (Pursell). (See. R. 22).

4. In the May 16, 1979 Zions' judgment, Judge Durham ruled that whatever interest Water Park may have had in the subject property was divested on September 30, 1977 as follows:

1. Water Park Corporation, a Utah corporation, was dissolved on September 30, 1977.

. . .

4. On September 30, 1977, defendant [Betty Purcell] became and is the owner of the above-described property.

4. Any judgment lien plaintiff [Zions] may have against defendant . . . constitutes a lien upon the above-described property as of the date of such docketing if subsequent to September 30, 1977. . . . (R. 15-16).

5. On December 7, 1979, the attorneys for the Blodgetts and Betty Purcell orally stipulated in a hearing before Judge Baldwin to the settlement of the consolidated actions between their clients. Mr. Bushnell and Mr. Barker, the respective attorneys for the parties, concluded their oral stipulation as follows:

MR. BUSHNELL [attorney for the Blodgetts]: We'll prepare the dismissal.

MR. BARKER [attorney for Betty Purcell]: If you want quit-claim deeds, we are going to mail them to Idaho and get them back. That is a few days mail time.

MR. BUSHNELL: Lets get all of it done plus that
-- well --

MR. BARKER: If you can do it by the Court Order
and quiet title to the matter - -

MR. BUSHNELL: Lets get the deeds too.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. BARKER: Very good.

THE COURT: You are gentlemen and scholars.

(Emphasis added). (R. 107).

6. On January 15, 1980, Betty Purcell quit-claimed both her interest and Water Park's interest in the subject property to the Blodgetts. (R. 111).

7. On March 20, 1980, a written stipulation of dismissal signed by the attorneys for the Blodgetts and Betty Purcell was filed with the court, and on May 5, 1980 Judge Baldwin issued an order prepared by the Blodgetts' attorney specifically dismissing with prejudice all claims and counterclaims of the Blodgetts and Betty Purcell against each other without mentioning the subject property or quieting title in the Blodgetts. (R. 21). The written stipulation of March 20, 1980 was not filed with the court to support the Blodgetts' motion for summary judgment in this case.

8. On August 31, 1984 Zions Bank assigned its

two judgments to Alco Investment (R. 69) whose principals are Stanley L. Pace and Allan D. McComb. (See R. 47).

9. On April 19, 1985, Stanley L. Pace and Allan D. McComb gave notice of the assignment and the intent to execute on the Zions' judgments. (R. 47-48).

10. On or about May 24, 1985, the Blodgetts commenced this action to stop the proposed execution and quiet title in them to the subject property. (R. 2).

11. On January 16, 1986, the lower court granted the Blodgetts' motion for summary judgment and denied the motion of Pace and McComb for summary judgment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment for the Blodgetts was improper because the facts and applicable law do not support the Blodgetts' position. A lis pendens has no legal effect but to give statutory notice to third persons who acquire a subsequent interest in the real property that such interest is subject to being extinguished or divested as requested in the lis pendens by the final judgment in the lis pendens' action. Thus, Zions' judgment liens remained effective unless they were defeated by the judgment in the Blodgetts' actions against Betty Purcell. The final judgment in the Blodgetts' actions does not mention the subject property or quiet title therein in the Blodgetts. Zions' liens

were not extinguished and execution thereon is proper. The lower court wrongly granted summary judgment to the Blodgetts because the oral stipulation by the Blodgetts' attorney required a court order quieting title and the final judgment prepared by the Blodgetts' attorney does not quiet title in the Blodgetts.

ARGUMENT

ZIONS' JUDGMENT LIENS REMAINED IN
FORCE AGAINST THE PROPERTY BECAUSE THE
BLODGETTS' FINAL JUDGMENT DID NOT QUIET
TITLE TO THE PROPERTY IN THE BLODGETTS.

Summary judgment is not appropriate unless there is no dispute as to a material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Snyder, et al. v. Merkley, et al., 693 P.2d 64 (Utah 1984). Doubts, uncertainties and inferences concerning issues of fact must be construed in favor of the person opposing summary judgment. Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, Chartered, 681 P.2d 1258 (Utah 1984). An affidavit in support of summary judgment must state admissible facts about which the affiant is competent to testify. Statements made on information and belief are disregarded. Treloggan v. Treloggan, 7 Utah Adv. Rep. 45, 699 P.2d 747 (Utah 1985). Even if no motion is made to strike an affidavit made on "information and belief"

summary judgment may only be granted "if appropriate."

Frisbee v. K & K Construction Co., 676 P.2d 387 (Utah 1984).

In this case there are several factors which may superficially appear to support the Blodgetts' motion for summary judgment, but which upon examination are clearly seen not to be appropriate. First, the only affidavit filed was one by William D. Blodgett which affidavit was unopposed, and there was no motion to strike. However, the affidavit states that it is "based upon best information and belief", and contains assumptions and conclusions almost exclusively about the attorney-client and business relationship between Lorin Pace and Betty Purcell. (R. 113-14). Those assumptions and conclusions do not appear to be material or relevant to the legal issue concerning the Blodgetts' lis pendens or to the necessity to have a final order which specifically quieted title in the Blodgetts.

Second, the Blodgetts obtained a default quiet title judgment from Judge Durham against Water Park on May 1, 1979, about two weeks prior to Zions' first judgment against Betty Purcell which was also rendered by Judge Durham. If Water Park then had an interest which went to the Blodgetts there would be no real property owned by Betty Purcell to which Zions' later judgments could attach. Such a conclusion is faulty because there was

never any evidence that on May 1, 1979 Water Park had any interest in the subject property which could have been acquired by the Blodgetts. Without that evidence, it could not be concluded that the Blodgetts received any interest or that Zions' subsequent judgments against Betty Purcell were not liens on the property. In any case, when Judge Durham decided on May 16, 1979 that Betty Purcell had owned the property since September 30, 1977, it was conclusively established that Water Park had no interest in the property on May 1, 1979 when the Blodgetts obtained their default judgment against Water Park.

Third, the impact of matters incorporated into the final order should be examined to determine if the final order, even by inference, could be said to quiet title in the Blodgetts. Judge Baldwin's order of May 5, 1980 which was prepared by the Blodgetts' counsel states that it is based on the "stipulation of counsel" and grants judgment to the "extent that judgment has not heretofore been entered". It is clear that the only previous judgment entered in the consolidated Blodgett cases was the default judgment against Water Park, the effect of which has been discussed above and shown that it did not resolve the question of ownership of the property. In regard to the "stipulation of counsel" there was first an oral stipulation and then

a written one filed in the Blodgetts' cases prior to Judge Baldwin's order of dismissal. The 1980 written stipulation was not filed in this case so that the only stipulation before Judge Sawaya was the transcript of the oral one which required that there be an order quieting title in the Blodgetts. Because Judge Baldwin's order did not follow the parties' oral stipulation and did not otherwise specifically deal with the property, it cannot be said to have quieted the title.

Although a decree based on an agreement between the parties may be binding on persons who obtain an interest pendente lite, the agreement must be in conformity with the decree. It is stated in 54 C.J.S., LIS PENDENS, §39(b) p. 612 that:

. . . a lis pendens purchaser is not bound where there is an agreed judgment not based on the relief relied on in the suit, . . .

In this case, the lis pendens specifically asked the court to quiet title in the Blodgetts. Judge Baldwin's final order does not mention or describe the property or grant the relief requested but only dismisses all claims of the parties with prejudice.

Moreover, it is questionable where a lis pendens has been filed in a quiet title matter that a final order,

whether based on an agreement or not, is effective to quiet title if the order does not specifically resolve the claim stated in the lis pendens. It is clear that a lis pendens gives notice during pending litigation and is not effective after that litigation is finally concluded. See Hidden Meadows Development Company v. Mills, et al., 590 P.2d 1244 (Utah 1979); Glattli, et al v. Bradford, 62 So. 643 (Miss. 1913); J. R. Bagnall v. Suburbia Land Company, 579 P.2d 914 (Utah 1978). An early case held that liens or interests in the property obtained by others subsequent to the lis pendens are defeated only if the final judgment in the lis pendens' action specifically disposes of the property interest claimed in the action. Glattli, et al. v. Bradford, supra. It is also usually held that an oral decision by a judge is not a judgment and has no final or binding effect unless formally incorporated into the findings, conclusions and judgment. Tacoma Recycling, Inc. v. Capitol Material Handling Co., 661 P.2d 609 (Wash. App. 1983). The above rule requiring a final decision to specifically resolve the contested issue would appear to apply with even greater force against an order based upon a stipulation of the parties. It would undoubtedly apply to an order which does not fully incorporate the stipulation of the parties as occurred in the Blodgetts' cases against Betty Purcell.

CONCLUSION

The lower court improperly granted summary judgment in favor of the Blodgetts because neither the applicable facts or law support the Blodgetts' position. Zions' judgments against Betty Purcell became liens on the property because Betty Purcell was the owner of the property at that time. Zions' liens were not thereafter defeated since the final order in the Blodgetts' cases did not quiet title in the Blodgetts and did not follow the oral stipulation of the parties' counsel. The written stipulation was not before the court in this case. The lower court should be reversed and judgment granted appellants.