1986

William D. Blodgett and Florence G. Blodgett, his
wife v. Zions First National Bank, Stanley L. Pace
and Allan D. McComb, individually and d/b/a
Alco Investment and Does 1-10 : Brief of
Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The facts underlying this action are undisputed and support the trial court's decision for the Blodgetts.

2. Since Alco is not registered with a DBA, it could not file a Notice of Appeal; consequently, this Court lacks jurisdiction over the appeal and should affirm without proceeding

to the merits. Utah Code Ann. §42-2-5; Utah Dept. of Bus. Reg. Etc. v. Public Serv., 602 P.2d 696 (Utah 1979).

3. By an order of the trial court (per Durham, J.), Betty Purcell was determined to be the owner of Water Park's interest in the Store Tract as of September 30, 1977. The Blodgetts had filed a lis pendens on the Store Tract in their suit against her in 1974; thus anyone seeking a lien against Betty Purcell's property after September 30, 1977 was precluded by the doctrine of lis pendens, which protects the right, title and interest of the Blodgetts. Betty Purcell's judgment creditors could obtain no interest in the property from her because of the Blodgetts' lis pendens. Utah Code Ann. §78-40-2; Tuft v. Federal Leasing, 657 P.2d 1300 (Utah 1982); Bagnall v. Suburbia Land Co., 579 P.2d 914 (Utah 1978); Stearns v. Los Angeles City School District, 244 Cal.App.2d 696, 53 Cal.Rptr. 482, 21 A.L.R.3d 164 (1966); Hoyt v. American Traders, Inc., 76 Or.App. 253, 709 P.2d 1090 (Or.App. 1985), appeal pending, 713 P.2d 1058 (Or. 1986).

4. Since a co-maker of a promissory note discharged a judgment against him and his co-maker, his remedy is against the co-maker, who was, like him, a judgment debtor. Thus, the Zions assignment to Alco (taken after one judgment debtor paid the judgment) does not permit foreclosure on land in which the non-paying co-maker once had an interest.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS ALCO'S APPEAL FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

After Lorin Pace, judgment debtor to Zions on his promissory note, paid Zions, Alco took an assignment and then gave notice of foreclosure on the Store Tract. Alco's notice prompted this suit, which the Blodgetts won on summary judgment.*

* Alco argues at some length that summary judgment should not have been granted to the Blodgetts because it was supported by an affidavit based on information and belief concerning business and attorney-client relationships between Lorin Pace and Betty Purcell. This Court may take judicial notice of the documents upon which the affidavit was based. First, Lorin Pace is a maker of a promissory note with Betty Purcell to Zions dated July 7, 1971 for the amount of \$27,262.59 payable on demand. (Ad. 12.) Zions subsequently took a default judgment against Lorin Pace for non-payment of the note on March 3, 1976. (Ad. 31.) He paid Zions \$27,262.59 pursuant to that judgment on August 31, 1984. (Ad. 11.) The Court may properly infer that, when a person signs a promissory note with another person, there is some relationship between them. Since the relationship evidenced by a promissory note involves money and debt, that relationship may be presumed to involve business.

As to an attorney-client relationship between Lorin Pace and Betty Purcell: Lorin Pace appears as attorney of record for Betty Purcell in Blodgett I from 1974 to 1976, when there was a motion for leave to withdraw as of counsel. (Ad. 13.) He was an attorney for the defendants and respondents, including Betty Purcell, in the Blodgett's appeal to this Court in Blodgett I. Blodgett v. Martsch, 590 P.2d 298, 300 (Utah 1978). Also, on November 8, 1973, Joe Martsch, Betty Purcell's husband at the time Valley Bank foreclosed on the property, conveyed a one-half undivided interest in the Store Tract to Water Park, which was solely owned by Betty Purcell. Lorin Pace witnessed and notarized the Martsch deed. (Ad. 10.) These documents evidence an attorney-client relationship between Lorin Pace and Betty Purcell and demonstrate that Lorin Pace was or had reason to be familiar with Betty Purcell's corporate holdings and business. As her attorney in Blodgett I he knew that the Blodgetts had filed a lis pendens on the Store Tract.

Utah Code Ann. §42-2-5 requires persons who carry on, conduct or transact business under an assumed name to register that name with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code, to maintain a registered office and to appoint a registered agent to receive process. Stanley Pace and Allan D. McComb have no registration of Alco Investment as an assumed name under which they conduct or transact their business, and they have not otherwise complied with the provisions of Chapter 2 of Title 42, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. Alco's registration expired September 22, 1984, before Alco attempted to foreclose on the Blodgetts' land.

Utah Code Ann. §42-2-10 establishes penalties for failure to register assumed names and provides:

Any person or persons who shall carry on, conduct or transact any such business under an assumed name without having complied with the provisions of this act shall not sue, prosecute or maintain any action, suit, counterclaim, cross complaint or proceeding in any of the courts of this state until the provisions of this chapter have been complied with. (Emphasis added).

Thus, persons who fail to register their assumed names and have otherwise failed to comply with Chapter 2 of Title 42 are legally incompetent to participate as parties litigant in any of the courts of this state, including this Court.

In Utah Dept. of Bus. Reg. Etc. v. Public Serv., 602 P.2d 696, 699 (Utah 1979), this Court stated:

Generally, a court's lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter of a dispute may not

be waived by the parties, and may be raised by the court sua sponte. Likewise, a court may not, when moved by an inclination to reach the merits of a particular case, ignore the fact that the case falls outside its legally proscribed domain.

This Court should dismiss any action pending before it when it lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of a dispute.

The jurisdiction of this Court in appeals taken from the district courts, such as the instant proceeding, depends upon the timely filing of a notice of appeal with the Clerk of the District Court under Rule 4, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. To file such a notice, a party must be legally competent to sue, prosecute or maintain actions in Utah courts.

Alco and its partners are not legally competent to prosecute their appeal before this Court. It follows, therefore, that being incompetent to prosecute or maintain their appeal, the notice of appeal they filed was void; and, the time for appeal in this matter having expired long ago, this Court is now without subject matter jurisdiction to proceed further and determine the merits of this case. Accordingly, the Court should dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

II. THE RIGHTS OF ZIONS (AND CONSEQUENTLY ANY RIGHTS OF ITS ASSIGNEE ALCO) TO THE STORE TRACT WERE EXTINGUISHED BY THE JUDGMENTS AND ORDERS RENDERED IN BLODGETT I AND BLODGETT II; ACCORDINGLY, THE TRIAL COURT IN BLODGETT III PROPERLY ENTERED SUMMARY JUDGMENT QUIETING TITLE TO THE STORE TRACT IN THE BLODGETTS.

Although the Blodgetts respectfully submit that this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to examine the merits of

this appeal, they believe that the facts are such that the trial court's judgment in their favor must be affirmed. Although the underlying facts are extensive and the law somewhat complex, careful analysis demonstrates that the Blodgetts are proper owners of the Store Tract because of the doctrine of lis pendens recognized in Utah and elsewhere.

A. By Virtue Of The Doctrine Of Lis Pendens, Zions And Alco Are Bound By The Trial Court's Disposition Of The Store Tract Pursuant To The Terms Of The Settlement Order In Blodgett I And Blodgett II.

In their brief, the Appellants state:

In any case, when Judge Durham decided on May 16, 1979 that Betty Purcell had owned the property since September 30, 1977, it was conclusively established that Water Park had no interest in the property on May 1, 1979 when the Blodgetts obtained their default judgment against Water Park.

(App. Br. p. 8).

If, as Judge Durham recognized and held in Zions II, ownership in Betty Purcell (through Water Park, which had a one-half undivided interest from Joe Martsch) was conclusively established as of September 30, 1977, then Zions took its judgment against Betty Purcell and sought to file a judgment lien against the Store Tract after the Blodgetts' lis pendens had been filed in a suit in which Betty Purcell was named as a defendant. That lis pendens covered any interest in the property which Betty Purcell had. Consequently, any claim of Zions against Betty Purcell's interest in the property is subject to the lis pendens and was extinguished as against that property

when the Blodgetts prevailed in their suits against Betty Purcell. Accordingly, summary judgment was properly granted to the Blodgetts in Blodgett II.

The Blodgetts recorded a lis pendens on the Store Tract on November 4, 1974. The order in Zions II vested a one-half undivided interest in the Store Tract in Betty Purcell, which was immediately subject to the Blodgetts' original claim and lis pendens. Since the August 13, 1976 default judgment against Betty Purcell in Zions I had been vacated, Zions had no judgment against Betty Purcell on the date that Judge Durham recognized Betty Purcell's one-half undivided ownership of the Store Tract. Zions acquired no colorable claim against Betty Purcell's interest in the Store Tract until June 1, 1979, when it obtained a default judgment against her. (Even if that default judgment were to relate back to September 30, 1977, it is still subsequent to the Blodgetts' 1974 lis pendens.) Thus, by virtue of the doctrine of lis pendens, Zions (and consequently Alco as its 1985 assignee) is bound by the trial court's disposition of Betty Purcell's interest in the Store Tract to the Blodgetts pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Order entered in Blodgett I and Blodgett II. Since Zions never sued Joe Martsch, it had no claim against him, and the one-half interest in the Store Tract which he conveyed to the Blodgetts has been theirs without rightful claim by Betty Purcell, Zions or now its assignee Alco since the Martsch conveyance.

1. After A Lis Pendens Is Filed In A Quiet Title Action, Judgment Creditors Of The Defendants Therein Cannot Reach The Interest Of Which Their Judgment Debtors Are Deprived By A Judgment In The Quiet Title Action.

Alco's attempt at foreclosure is exactly what the doctrine of lis pendens prevents: when Betty Purcell was ordered to quitclaim her interest to the Blodgetts, in whom title was to be quieted, that court-ordered conveyance to the Blodgetts left Betty Purcell with no interest in the Store Tract to which a judgment lien could attach.

Lis pendens means, simply, that even though Alco may have a right against Betty Purcell, Alco cannot claim any right to property in which Betty Purcell no longer has any right, title or interest. Alco can only stand in Betty Purcell's shoes; it cannot exceed her interests in any property. Since she has no interest in the Store Tract, lis pendens mandates that Alco has no interests in it. If Alco has a bona fide claim against Betty Purcell, it must sue her personally or seek assets she owns against which to satisfy its claim.

Utah Code Annotated §78-40-2 governs the filing of lis pendens in actions affecting the title to or the right of possession of real property in Utah. This provision states:

In any action affecting the title to, or the right of possession of, real property the plaintiff at the time of filing the complaint or thereafter, and the defendant at the time of filing his answer when affirmative relief is claimed in such answer, or at any time afterward, may file for record with the re-

corder of the county in which the property of some part thereof is situated a notice of the pendency of the action, containing the names of the parties, the object of the action or defense, and a description of the property in that county affected thereby. From the time of filing such notice for record only shall a purchaser or encumbrancer of the property affected thereby be deemed to have constructive notice of the pendency of the action, and only of its pendency against parties designated by their real names.

In Bagnall v. Suburbia Land Co., 579 P.2d 914, 916

(Utah 1978), this Court explained the doctrine of lis pendens:

The doctrine of lis pendens preserves the status quo by keeping the subject of the lawsuit within the power and control of the court until judgment or decree shall be entered. The recording of a lis pendens serves as a warning to all persons that any rights or interests they may acquire in the interim are subject to the judgment or decree. One who acquires an interest in land that is the subject of pending litigation stands in no better position than the person he acquires it from, he is charged with notice of the claimed contrary rights of others, and he is bound by the judgment rendered in the litigation. (Emphasis added).

In Bagnall, United Paint & Colors Company ("United Paint") acquired a certain tract of property from Utah Valley Land & Development Company ("Utah Valley"). Prior to the execution and delivery of the deed to United Paint by Utah Valley, the Bagnalls had recorded a lis pendens on the tract. Nonetheless Utah Valley executed and delivered a deed to United Paint. The Bagnalls named Utah Valley and United Paint as parties in a suit

to quiet title to the property. The trial court ruled that the Bagnalls were entitled to a decree quieting title against Utah Valley and, consequently, United Paint. The Court held:

The final undisputed fact is that the default judgment entered against Utah Valley (thereby quieting title in Bagnalls as against it) was previously affirmed on appeal to this Court. This event, coupled with the fact that a lis pendens was recorded, serves to conclusively defeat any interest United Paint may have acquired through Utah Valley. This is the case by reason of the doctrine of lis pendens which requires United Paint to stand in the same position of its grantor, Utah Valley. Consequently, when the interests of Utah Valley in the 140.15 acres were defeated, so were those of United Paint.

Bagnall, supra, at 916, 917 (emphasis added).

In Tuft v. Federal Leasing, 657 P.2d 1300, 1302-03 (Utah 1982), this Court reaffirmed the principles announced in Bagnall and held:

In the present case, the lis pendens document gave constructive notice to both Bayshore Inn and Federal Leasing of the pendency of the foreclosure suit. Both parties, in acquiring the property, were therefore charged with the knowledge that their rights with respect to the property would be determined by that suit.

Because Bayshore Inn and Federal Leasing had both actual and constructive notice of the pendency of the foreclosure suit at the time they acquired their successive interests in the property, they are bound by the results of that suit. The trial court properly quieted title in plaintiff on that basis. (Emphasis added).

Thus, after a lis pendens has been recorded in a quiet title action, a lis pendens grantee cannot reach the interest of which its grantor is deprived by a judgment in the quiet title action. Zions was trying to obtain Betty Purcell's interest in the land, but the Blodgetts' lis pendens, filed in connection with a suit against Betty Purcell, was constructive notice to Zions that any claim to the land it could make because of or through Betty Purcell was subject to an existing dispute between the Blodgetts and Betty Purcell. Zions' assignee Alco thus has no right against the Blodgetts or their property, and the summary judgment for the Blodgetts in this action should be affirmed.

Judgment creditors are bound by the application of the doctrine of lis pendens. Zions, as a judgment creditor of Betty Purcell, could not take something Betty Purcell could not take from the Blodgetts; as assignee of Zions, Alco is a judgment creditor pursuing a defendant who has lost its assets in a suit. The losing defendant Betty Purcell has nothing, and that is what her judgment creditor can get: nothing. See Stearns v. Los Angeles City School District, 244 Cal.App.2d 696, 53 Cal.Rptr. 482, 21 A.L.R.3d 164 (1966); Hoyt v. American Traders, Inc., 76 Or.App. 253, 709 P.2d 1090 (Or.App. 1985), appeal pending, 713 P.2d 1058 (Or. 1986). A copy of the Hoyt case is annexed. (Ad. 26-30.)

In Stearns, Rose Landier had been awarded certain real property pursuant to a judgment against her former husband, Felicien P. Landier, in a divorce action in which she had filed a lis pendens. She had filed her lis pendens before the husband's judgment creditors recorded their judgment against the property. She brought an action to quiet title to the real property against Mr. Landier's judgment creditors. Discussing the effect of the lis pendens filed in Rose Landier's suit against her ex-husband, the California Court held:

The only mention of [the judgment creditors of Felicien P. Landier] in the property is a finding which notes that since the commencement of the action an abstract of judgment had been recorded against the property for a sum in excess of \$300,000.

A lis pendens having been recorded prior to the abstract, the latter [the judgment creditors] could not directly reach the interest of which [Felicien P.] Landier and the Company were deprived by the judgment in Rose's suit.

53 Cal.Rptr. at 503 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

In Hoyt v. American Traders, Inc., supra, Ms. Hoyt filed an action for a declaratory judgment that a parcel of real property which was awarded solely to her in a divorce proceeding was free and clear of a judgment lien filed against her former husband. In connection with her divorce action, Ms. Hoyt had filed a lis pendens before American Traders, Inc., the husband's judgment creditor, obtained its judgment against him and before

it recorded the lien against her real property. The lower court entered judgment in favor of American Traders, Inc. On appeal, the Oregon Court of Appeals reversed and held:

We hold that the doctrine of lis pendens was applicable to plaintiff's [Hoyt's] dissolution proceeding, as a result of which defendant's [American Traders, Inc.'s] judgment lien was subject to the outcome of that proceeding. When plaintiff was awarded the property free of her husband's interest, defendant lost its lien.

Hoyt, supra, 709 P.2d at 1093 (emphasis added).

Thus, after a lis pendens has been recorded in a quiet title suit, the defendants' judgment creditors cannot, by there-after recording their judgment, reach the interest which their judgment debtors lost in the quiet title action. Whether the final orders and judgments are rendered after a trial on the merits or pursuant to compromise and settlement is immaterial and does not affect the binding nature of those judgments and orders. See e.g. Milton E. Giles & Co. v. Bank of America Nat. Trust & Savings Ass'n., 47 Cal.App.2d 315, 117 P.2d 943 (1941).

The Blodgetts are like Ms. Landier and Ms. Hoyt. The Store Tract belongs to the Blodgetts, awarded in settlement of their suits against Betty Purcell. Like the judgment creditors in Stearns and Hoyt, Zions (and hence its assignee Alco) lost its lien (if it ever truly had one) against the Store Tract, and therefore can take nothing from the Blodgetts.

2. Betty Purcell Was Deprived Of Her Interest In
The Store Tract In Blodgett I And Blodgett II.

Under the principles stated in Bagnall, Tuft, Stearns and Hoyt, the Blodgetts' lis pendens, filed in 1974, served as a warning to Zions (and thus its assignee Alco) that any rights or interest it might acquire in, to or against the Store Tract (through Betty Purcell) during the pendency of the Blodgetts' actions would be subject to any and all judgments or orders rendered in the Blodgetts' proceedings.

On December 7, 1979, Judge Baldwin entered the Settlement Order in Blodgett I and Blodgett II which provided: "Based on stipulation of respective counsel, court orders: the within case settled as set out in the record." (Ad. 22.) The Settlement Order memorializes and clarifies the intent of the trial court. The terms of settlement approved by the Settlement Order were:

MR. BUSHNELL [attorney for the Blodgetts]:
We'll get the quit-claims we want signed, you
get the releases and satisfactions you want
signed. Why don't you prepare the release
you want for the bank and get the check and
we'll go from there. Will that be all right?

THE COURT [Judge Baldwin]: A dismissal with
prejudice of the action.

MR. BUSHNELL: We'll prepare the dismissal.

MR. BARKER [attorney for Betty Purcell]: If
you want quit-claim deeds, we are going to
mail them to Idaho and get them back. This
is a few days mail time.

MR. BUSHNELL: Lets get all of it done plus
that-- well --

MR. BARKER: If you can do it by the Court Order and quiet title to the matter --

MR. BUSHNELL: Let's get the deed too.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. BARKER: Very good.

(R. 103-07, emphasis added.)

Thus, the terms of settlement in Blodgett I and Blodgett II, which the trial court approved in the Settlement Order, included: (1) execution of a quitclaim deed by Betty Purcell conveying her interest in the Store Tract to the Blodgetts, (2) payment of damages to the Blodgetts, (3) dismissal with prejudice of the Blodgetts' actions, (4) a court order quieting title to the Store Tract in the Blodgetts.

Under the terms of settlement approved by the Settlement Order in Blodgett I and Blodgett II, Betty Purcell, a defendant in Zions I and Zions II and through whom Zions and Alco claim an interest in the Store Tract, relinquished and was judicially deprived of any interest she had in the Store Tract. The Settlement Order disposed of the Store Tract by approving Betty Purcell's transfer of the Store Tract to the Blodgetts pursuant to quitclaim deeds. In accordance with the law as set forth in Bagnall, Tuft, Stearns and Hoyt, Zions and Alco are bound by the trial court's disposition of the Store Tract in Blodgett I and Blodgett II.

This result follows from the fact that both Zions and its assignee Alco had constructive notice of the Blodgetts' litigation through the Blodgetts' lis pendens filed in November, 1974 -- two years prior to Zions I and the judgments obtained therein and four years prior to Zions II.

When Betty Purcell lost her interest in the Store Tract under the Settlement Order in Blodgett I and Blodgett II, Zions and Alco lost any interest and claim to the Store Tract because their only claims were to Betty Purcell's interest in the Store Tract, not in the Store Tract itself. That distinction is crucial but ignored by Alco. The trial court, following the doctrine of lis pendens explained by this Court, recognized these principles. Consequently, the trial court in Blodgett III properly entered summary judgment quieting title to the Store Tract in the Blodgetts.

B. The Trial Court's Disposition Of The Store Tract Pursuant To The Terms Of The Order And Judgment Of Quiet Title In Blodgett I And Blodgett II Extinguished Any Interest Or Claim Of Zions And Alco In Or To The Store Tract.

Since Zions and its assignee Alco were subject to the trial court's disposition of the Store Tract in Blodgett I and Blodgett II, and since the final Order and Judgment of Quiet Title in those cases quieted title to the Store Tract in the Blodgetts, Zions and Alco have absolutely no claim against, title to, or interest in the Store Tract. Accordingly, the trial court

in Blodgett III properly entered summary judgment quieting title to the Store Tract in the Blodgetts.

1. The Trial Court In Blodgett I And Blodgett II Properly Entered The Order And Judgment Of Quiet Title Pursuant To Rule 60(a) Of The Utah Rules Of Civil Procedure.

The Dismissal Order did not accurately reflect the trial court's judgment, set forth on the record in Blodgett I and II and in its minute order to quiet title in the Blodgetts. To correct the error in the Dismissal Order, the Blodgetts served Betty Purcell and filed on March 17, 1986 a Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title pursuant to Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders.

In Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co., 669 P.2d 1201, 1206 (Utah 1983), this Court construed Rule 60(a), defining a clerical mistake as one which is mechanical in nature, is apparent on the record and does not involve a legal decision or judgment by an attorney. The distinction between a judicial error and a clerical error does not depend upon who made it; rather, the distinction depends on whether it was made in rendering the judgment (judicial error) or in recording the judgment as rendered (clerical error). See Richards v. Siddoway, 24 Utah 2d

314, 471 P.2d 143, 145 (1970). Corrections contemplated by Rule 60(a) must be undertaken for the purpose of reflecting the actual intention of the court and the parties. See Lindsay v. Atkin, 680 P.2d 401, 402 (Utah 1984).

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